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style of the Anatomy by his friend Gray. His System of Surgery,
in four volumes, and the shorter Treatise of Surgery, were standard
works in their time. He served the Hospital for Sick Children in
Great Ormond Street, and held a number of public posts. ‘‘The
loss of an eye due to acute gonococcal infection resulting from
accidental infection whilst operating, a harsh and somewhat
monotonous voice, and a manner carefully cultivated to hide any
interest he might feel in those he examined, made him a terror
to the students.”

George William Callender (1830-78), M.R.C.S. 1852,
F.R.C.S. 1855, F.R.S. 1871, was on the surgical staff of St.
Bartholomew’s Hospital. He was opposed to specialisation by
general surgeons, and the honour of the Fellowship of the Royal
Society he obtained for his work on anatomy.

Sir William Henry Flower (1831-99), M.R.C.S. 1854,
F.R.C.S. 1857, F.R.S. 1864, was elected Assistant Surgeon to the
Middlesex Hospital on his return from active service in the
Crimean War. Becoming Consérvator of the Museum of the Royal
College of Surgeons in 1861, he succeeded Richard Owen as
Director of the Natural History Museum in South Kensington.
His ophthalmological, as, indeed, all clinical interest, must have
been short-lived.

Ernest Abraham Hart (1835-98), M.R.C.S. 1856, barred as a
Jew by the Test Act from entering Queens’ College, Cambridge,
to which he was eligible on his school record, obtained per-
mission to study at St. George's Hospital. In 1859 he was
appointed Assistant Surgeon to the West London Hospital,
becoming full surgeon in 1860, but resigning in 1863 on his
appointment as Ophthalmic Surgeon to St. Mary’s Hospital,
where subsequently he also acted as Aural Surgeon. He was Dean
of the Medical School from 1863 to 1868. He gave up medicine
for journalism, becoming editor of the British Medical Journal.
Hart contributed extensively to the social and sanitary reforms of
the second half of the 19th century. In exposing the defects in the
workhouse infirmaries, his activities led to the passing of the Hardy
Act, with the consequent abolition of the barrack-school system
under the Poor Law and the creation of the Metropolitan Asvlums
Board. Under his editorship the British Medical Journal rose from
a circulation of 2,000 to 19,000.

WESTERN INSTITUTION FOR OPHTHALMIA AND ALL DISEASES
oF THE E¥YE,

22, Dorset Street, Portman Square.
This institution appears only once—in the 1847 Directory. The
following particulars are given :—

- Established : 1845. :
Physician: Dr. J. Henry Bennet.
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Surgeon : F. Harrington Brett, Esq.

Assistant Surgeon : H. A. Spitta, Esq.

The institution apparently came to an end on account of the
personal difficulties of Brett. Born on August 12, 1803, he took
service in the Bengal Army in 1825, retiring in 1844. Whilst in
the service he was Professor of Ophthalmic Surgery at the Calcutta
 Medical School, in addition to having general surgical duties.
After his retirement he settled in London as a Consulting
Surgeon, practising at 44, Curzon Street. In 1846 he was an
unsuccessful candidate for the Assistant Surgeoncy at West-
minster Hospital. Feeling ran high during the contest and Brett
challenged one of the physicians at the hospital to a duel. He
was bound over to keep the peace. In the same year Brett was
adjudged bankrupt. He died on December 10, 1859, but his
name does not figure in the Directory after 1847. He was M.R.C.S.
1825, F.R.C.S. 1845 and M.R.C.P.

There is no H. A. Spitta in the Directory. There was a Robert
- John Spitta, L.S.A., M.R.C.S. (1820-1900), who resided at
Clapham Common.18

Dr. Henry Bennet was an obstetric physician attached to the
Western General Dispensary. He was subsequently Physician-
Accoucheur to the Royal Free Hospital.

WEST oF LONDON INSTITUTE FOR DISEASES OF THE EYE,
Fulham Road, Brompton.

WEST LONDON AND CHELSEA INFIRMARY FOR DISEASES OF THE EYE,

Jubilee Place, King’s Road.

This institution appears in the 1847 Directory under the first
name. The Surgeons were Mr. D. E. Edwards, Mr. A. B. Barnes
and Mr. W. V. Pettigrew. The following year the initials of the
first surgeon are given correctly as D. O.; the name of W. V.
Pettigrew is missing. Two consulting medical officers appear :
Dr. J. A. Wilson and Hale Thomson, Esq.

The institution appears under the second name and address in
1852. It is described as open every Tuesday and Friday from
half past eight to half past nine o’clock. The staff is now reduced
to two, Edwards acting as Consulting Surgeon, and Barnes as
the sole Surgeon. In 1853 the name of the Earl of Denbigh appears
as President, and that of George Atkins, Esq., as Treasurer. One
full Surgeon, Francis Godrich, and two Assistant Surgeons, M.
Baines, Esq., M.D., and F. Godrich, Junior, Esq., are added to
the staff. The 1854 entry shows the Infirmary open on four days
a week. The entries for 1855, 1856 and 1857 are based on the one
in 1854, no new returns having been made by the secretary. For
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1858 the address is given as King’s Road. The staff now consists
of the Consulting Surgeon, two Surgeons and one Assistant
Surgeon; the two Godriches are missing; M. Baines has joined
Barnes as Surgeon and H. S. Barnes is the Assistant Surgeon.
No further modifications appear and the last entry is in the 1862
Directory. In the British Medical Directory for 1854, the number
of patients (presumably out-patients) for 1852 is given as 313.
Comparative figures for Moorfields, Royal Westminster Ophthal-
mic Hospital, the Central London Ophthalmic Hospital and the
North London Ophthalmic Institution are : 10,939, 5,647,2,853 and
2,339 respectively.

David Owen Edwards, L.S.A. 1827, M.R.C.S. 1828, F.R.C.S.
1852, M.R.C.P. 1865, was the inventor of a new mode of warming
and ventilating sick chambers. His one ophthalmic publication
is a letter in the Lancet (1839-40, Vol. II, p. 8567) on Mr. French’s
mode of operating for strabismus. It is scholarly and dignified
and points out that Anthony White had divided the internal rectus
of the eye of several living animals and had proposed the operation

~as a remedy for squint in 1828, 11 years before Dieffenbach.
Edwards died on January 18, 1878.

Alfred Brook Barnes, M.R.C.S. 1826, F.R.C.S. 1853, ‘‘one
of the few gentlemen who meet with . . . tangible pecuniary
success . . . not undeserved, was chiefly instrumental in founding
the Western Medical and Surgical Society (of which he was a
President) and also the West London Eye Infirmary” (Med.
Circular, Vol. 1, p. 170, 1852). After 1866 the Directory does not
contain his name.

William Vesalius Pettigrew (1815-74), M.R.C.S. 1837,
F.R.C.S. (by election) 1844, M.D. (Glasgow) 1839, was the son
of Thomas Joseph Pettigrew, F.R.S,, the medlcal blographer
He practised first in King’s Road, Chelsea, and then in Chesley
Street, Belgrave Square. He was a lecturer at Grainger’s School of
Medicine in the Borough, and subsequently at Lane’s School
of Medicine in Grosvenor Place.

Francis Godrich, [..S.A. 1818, M.R.C.S. 1819, was Surgeon
to St. George’s Hanover Square Workhouse.

Francis Godrich, Junior, L.S.A. 1850, M.R.C.S. 1851, at first
practised from the same address as the preceding. He was at
one time demonstrator of anatomy at the school in Grosvenor
Place. He was subsequently, for a time, Medical Officer of Health
for Kensington.

Matthew Baines, L.S.A. 1845, M.R.C.S. 1845, M.B,(Lond.)
1845, M.D.(Lond.) 1850, was the author of a paper on Public
Health.

Herbert Sedgwick Barnes, L.S.A. 1837, practised from the
same address as A. B. Barnes. He died in 1865.
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The Consulting Medical Officers appearing in the 1848 entry—
James Arthur Wilson, M.D., F.R.C.P. and Frederick Hale
Thomson, F.R.C.S.—were Senior Physicians to St. George’s
Hospital and Surgeon to Westminster Hospital respectively.
Thomson was involved in a duel with Forbes when the latter
quarrelled with Guthrie at the Royal Westminster Ophthalmic
Hospital.1?

METROPOLITAN INSTITUTION FOR DISEASES OF THE EYE AND EAR,
25, Sackville Street.

James Yearsley (1805-69), one of the pioneers of otology in this
country and the originator of the Medical Directory, founded
the Metropolitan Institution for Diseases of the Ear in 1838.
(Med. Circular, Vol. II, p. 77, 1853). The entry in the Directory
for 1849 describes it as an Otological Institution, but the new
name indicated in this heading, extending its scope to include eye
diseases, is given in 1850. However, a year later it reverted to a
purely otological institution under the name of Metropolitan Ear
Infirmary, which has since developed into the Metropolitan Ear,
Nose and Throat Hospital. Yearsley’s brief excursion into
ophthalmology has left no traces; none of his writings is of
ophthalmological interest, and to what extent the Metropolitan
Institution served as an Eye Hospital cannot now be determined,
as the early records of the Hospital were destroyed some years
ago by an over-zealous clerk as superfluous papers encumbering
the office.

WESTERN DISPENSARY FOR DISEASES OF THE EYE,
41, Queen Street, Edgware Road.

WEesT [.LoNDON EYE DISPENSARY,
26, Nutford Place, Edgware Road.

This institution first appears in the Directory for 1855 with the
following details :

Consulting Physician : Dr. ]J. Spurgin.

Consulting Surgeon: C. Holthouse.

Physician : R. M. Lawrance.

Surgeon: W. T. Hudson.

In the entries for 1856 and 1857 Hudson’s name is missing and
no surgeon is given.

In 1868 the institution appears under the second name and a
new address. Hudson’s name is now replaced by that of Mr.
T. S. Wells. The entry for 1859 is identical, and a footnote says
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that no return had been made by the secretary for that year. No
subsequent entries appear.

. S. Spurgin. is probably John Spurgin, M.D.Cantab.,
F.R.C.P. London, who was Senior Physician to the Foundling
Hospital and Physician to St. Mark’s Hospital.

Carsten Holthouse, F.R.C.S. (1810-1901), was the virtual
founder of the Medical School of Westminster Hospital which
he served as Surgeon. In 1857 he collaborated with J. Z. Laurence
in founding the Royal Eye Hospital, where he was the senior
Surgeon.

Richard Moore Lawrance practised at 21, Connaught Square,
Hyde Park, W. He had no British qualification till 1859 when
he was admitted L.R.C.P. He was M.A., M.D. Berlin 1844, and
acted as Physician to the Duke of Saxe-Cobourg and Gotha. He
was ophthalmic Surgeon to the Great Northern Hospital and the
author of a number of papers on treatment by electricity.

W. T. Hudson was probably William Thomas Hudson,
M.R.C.S. 1836, L.S.A. 1836, of 50, Green Street, Park Lane,
who is described as Surgeon to the Dispensary for Consumption,
Margaret Street. There is no entry of his name after 1856.

T. S. Wells must have been Spencer Wells (1818-97). When
Wells settled in London in 1853, after serving in the Navy, he
devoted himself to ophthalmology, but, as was usual in those
days, not exclusively. In that year he contributed two ophthal-
mological papers, one on the treatment of squint by prisms and
the other one a new form of ophthalmoscope that he had devised.?
On returning from the Crimean War in 1856, he resumed his
duties as Surgeon at the Samaritan Hospital for Women, and in
1858, when elected to the West London Eye Hospital, Wells was
at the threshold of his career as a pioneer in abdominal surgery.

NORTHERN DISPENSARY AND FOR DISEASES OF THE EYE.

Until 1856 the name of this institution, established in 1810,
was the Northern Dispensary. In 1855 John Zachariah Laurence
appears as one of the surgeons, and a year later the new name
for the institution was adopted. Laurence’s name ceases to appear
after 1859, and after 1861 the institution appears as the St. Pancras
and Northern Dispensary. Before 1859 the address was 9,
Sommers Place, New Road, and subsequently 126, Euston Road,
N.W.

It is likely that the appointment of Laurence led to the enlarge-
ment of the scope of this institution. Presumably it did not,
however, meet his requirements. In 1857 he founded the Royal
Eye Hospital. His death in 1870 at the age of 41 robbed British
ophthalmology of one of its most brilliant figures.?
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WESTERN EYE HosPITAL,
220, Marylebone Road, N.W.

The present Western Ophthalmic Hospital first appears in the
Medical Directory in 1858 under the name of St. Marylebone
Eye and Ear Institution with an address at 1, St. John’s Place,
Lisson Grove, N.W. The surgeons were Dr. Obré and Mr.
Winchester. In 1859 the name is modified by the omission of
‘““and Ear,”’ whilst the name of W. O. Chalk replaces that of
Winchester, and the address is 1565, Marylebone Road. It is not
till 1866 that the present name of Western Ophthalmic Hospital
appears, the surgeons at that time being H. Obré and W. Adams.
The number of patients for that year is given as 1,897.

Obré died in 1867. In 1876 the Western Ophthalmic Hospital
is described as having 20 beds and the surgeons were H. N. Hardy
and D. Freeman, T. B. Archer and J. S. Wilkinson. A year later
the names of both Hardy and Freeman are missing, whilst a
new hospital appears: Western Eye Hospital, 220, Marylebone
Road, N.W.1. Established 1876; 12 beds. Surgeon: Mr. D.
Freeman. The in-patients are stated as 36 and the monthly out-
patients 1,200 [against the annual number of 20,677 for Moorfields
and 10,500 for the Royal Westminster Ophthalmic Hospital].
For 1879 the only change is in the number of patients—it is given
as 25,700. This seems to have been the high-water mark of the
institution ; entries appear till 1883, the only change being that
C. D. Freeman is given as the secretary in 1881 instead of A.
Hendry previously. The entries for 1882 and 1883 are reprints,
no new returns having been obtained.

Delamark Freeman qualified L.S.A. and M.R.C.S. in 1860. He
held at one time the post of Surgeon to St. George’s Hanover
Square Dispensary. His name appears for the last time in the
1908 Directory. He died on August 29, 1916.2

C. D. Freeman mav have been Charles Delamark Freeman, who
qualified I..S.A. 1885, M.R.C.S. 1886, L.R.C.P. 1888, and whose
name appeared in the Directory till 1931.

BroovsBURY ProvIDENT EYE HosPITAL,
5, Hyde Street, W.C.

The first entry appears in the 1885 Directory, the last in 1888,
this latter being an uncorrected repetition of the entry in 1887.

The 1885 entry gives 1884 as the date of establishment; in 1886
the date of foundation is given as 1880; in 1887 as 1877.

The first entry contains the name of Mr. Jabez Hogg as Con-
sulting Surgeon and that of Dr. W. H. Diamond as Surgeon.
In the subsequent entries both these appear as Surgeons. In the
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1886 entry the number of patients is given as 1,200; in the 1887
as 1,340.

Jabez Hogg (1817-99), M.R.C.S. 1850, divided his activities
between journalism and ophthalmology. At first a private assis-
tant to Guthrie, he became Surgeon at the Royal Westminster
Ophthalmic Hospital in 1871, serving till 1877. He was the first
president of the Medical Microscopy Society. A prolific writer
on ophthalmic subjects, his most important book was mercilessly
demolished in a criticism in (Laurence’s) Ophthalmic Review. In
revenge he started the Journal of British Ophthalmology (1864), of
which only one issue appeared. From 1845 till his retirement in
1895 he edited the Illustrated London Almanack. A grant of
£75 was made to him in the Civil Pensions List in 1895.%

Warren Hastings Diamond, M.R.C.S. 1856, L.R.C.P.(Edin.)
1859, M.R.C.P. 1863, appears to have devoted his attention to
mental disease. It is of interest to note that in his biographical
section of the Directory he gives the name of the hospital as the
Bloomsbury Eye and Skin Hospital.

He died about 1903. (His name was removed from the Medical
Register in 1903, as no reply had been received by the General
Medical Council to letters of inquiry.2)

St. ANDREW’S EYE AND EAR HOSPITAL,
67, Wells Street, W.

The first entry appears in 1887, the last in 1891. The 1887
entry states that the hospital was established in 1882. Its surgeon
was A. L. A. Forbes, with Mr. E. Pierrepont as Surgeon-
Dentist. The number of patients is stated as 4,000.

In 1889 the name of T. Neville, M.D., appears as Consulting
Surgeon.

In 1890 the name of Mr. H. White appears against a depart-
ment for the treatment of Defects of Speech by Oral Training.

The last entry in 1891 is a repetition of the one of 1890, no new
report having been obtained from the secretary. No indication
is given as to whether the hospital possessed any beds.

Arthur Litton Armitage Forbes, L.R.C.P.(Edin.) 1870,
F.R.C.S.(Edin.) 1884, appeared in the Directory till 1924. The
date of his death is not known; his name was removed from the
Medical Register in 1922 for the same technical reason as
Diamond’s was.2 He was surgeon-superintendent in the New
Zealand emigration service, and at one time surgeon-major in the
Turkish Army in the Servia campaign of 1876-77, and surgeon to
the German Consulate, Navigator Island. He translated De
Wecker’s Thérapeutique Oculariste in 1879 and subsequently
published a number of monographs on otology and several books
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on travel. For some years he was Surgeon to the Metropolitan
Ear, Nose and Throat Hospital.

The background to the development of eye hospitals is the
stormy and angry opposition by the leaders of the profession
to the rise of special hospitals in general. Things came to a
head when it was proposed in 1860 to found a Hospital for Stone
and Diseases of the Urinary Organs—the present St. Peter’s
Hospital. The protest movement, with W. H. Flower as secretary
—though he himself was attached to an eye hospital—gathered
in it all the representative bodies and figures of medicine: the
Presidents of the Royal Society, the General Medical Council, the
Royal Colleges, the British Medical Association and the Director-
Generals of the Army and of the Navy Medical Departments. The
medical press was unanimous in the condemnation of the special
hospitals, and Sir Benjamin Brodie’s exception of eye hospitals
from the general ban found feeble support. Whilst the arguments
against the development of special hospitals were theoretically
sound—generally stressing that a local disease must not be
regarded as a thing in itself, but the local manifestations of a
widespread underlying state—they did not always maintain this
impersonal level. The Lancet spoke of the special hospitals as a
‘““monstrous evil—an evil which springs from within the pro-
fession’’ (Lancet, Vol. I1, p. 88, 1860), whilst W. O. Markham,
subsequently editor of the British Medical Journal, more bluntly
stated in a discussion at the British Medical Association that ‘‘ the
gentlemen engaged in those (special) hospitals got their names
spread all over England, but in the meantime the profession was
being ruined’’ as no proper check could be exercised at special
hospitals—drawing their patients from all over the country—that
only poor persons were being treated (Brit. Med. ]1., p. 628, 1860).
To the ostracism applied to them the more established special
‘hospitals replied in a like spirit. How intense that animosity was
is well shown by the regulation introduced at Moorfields in 1864
that none of its full surgeons should hold an ophthalmic appoint-
ment in any other hospital—a regulation that compelled Streatfeild
to resign from the post of Ophthalmic Surgeon to University
College Hospital, and remained in force till 1873.12

Animosity against special hospitals has long since died out.
However sound the theoretical arguments against them, in
practice these institutions proved invaluable as centres of pro-
gress in the development of neglected fields of study. To a
generation of ophthalmologists to whom the violent passions of
this struggle are but a lingering memory, the question may fairly
arise whether eve hospitals, having reached a high level of develop-
ment, are not likely to find new vigour in a closer co-operation
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with the general hospitals in antagonism of which they sprung
up and developed. No technical perfection of the ophthalmic art
can compensate for any avoidable loss to ophthalmic science from
too narrow an exclusiveness.

I have to acknowledge my indebtedness to Sir Wathen Arthur
Waller, Bart., for information on his great-grandfather, Sir
Jonathan Wathen Waller; to Mr. R. R. James, for help on the
same subject, and to the Registrar of the General Medical Council
for information on D. Freeman, A. L. A. Forbes and W. H.
Hastings. To Mr. S. Wood, of the Library of the Royal College
of Surgeons, I am indebted for his careful transcript of the Rowley
document, and to the Librarian, Mr. W. R. Le Fanu, for per-
mission to publish it.
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